I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER: Appellant David 

Cebert, who was originally the plaintiff and had his claims 

dismissed based on the defendant Respondents' affirmative 

defense that the statute of limitations ran. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPELLATE 

DECISION: 

Appellate court decision on the case 364682, rendered Jun 30, 

2020. Motion for reconsideration filed July 20, 2020, and order 

denying reconsideration September 1, 2020.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

(A) This Court held in Macchia v. Savlino, 64 Wn.2d 

951, 955 (1964) that the "statute of limitation on amounts due 

under a contract for continuous service does not begin to run until 

the contract is terminated." emphasis added. Rather than 

following Macchia, the Court of Appeals held that the statute of 

limitations for this continuous service contract runs when the 

contract is first breached. Did the court of appeals contradict this 
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Court's ruling in Macchia, and if so is this now the correct 

standard for continuous service contracts? 

The Court of Appeals clearly conflicted with this Court's 

decision in Macchia, and provided no good basis to set aside 

Macchia, especially when Macchia forwards Washington's 

policy of protecting employee wages. 

(B) The legislature and this Court have determined the 

fraud statute of limitations begins to run when a party discovers 

fraud, or within the exercise of diligence should have discovered 

the fraud. RCW 4.16.080( 4). Strong v. Clark, 56 Wn.2d 230, 232 

(1960). This is a question of fact and not of law. Young v. 

Savidge, 155 Wn. App. 806,823,230 P.3d 222 (2010). 

The Court of Appeals did not follow this rule. The Court 

of Appeals found the statute of limitations began to run upon the 

first misrepresentation and not on the date of discovery. The 

Appellant presented facts of continued misrepresentation that 

prevented discovery until well within the three-year timeline for 

the statute of limitations. The issue here is if the statute of 
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limitations truly starts at discovery, and if so can this be decided 

by a judge when there are sufficient issues of fact that discovery 

did not occur before the statute of limitations began to accrue? 

The court of appeals erred by either deciding these facts, 

in contradiction to Washington's constitution and this Court's 

clear precedent, or the court of appeals applied the wrong law for 

starting the statute of limitations. 

( C) Separate trials requires careful and cautions 

informed judicial discretion "to determine the application of the 

separation will manifestly promote convenience and/or actually 

avoid prejudice." Brown v. Gen. Motor's Corp., 67 Wn.2d 278, 

282, 407 P .2d 461 ( 1965). The Court of Appeals allowed for the 

separation of trials to occur by summary judgment error, that the 

Court of Appeals even acknowledge in its decision to send the 

employment and quantum meruit claims back to trial. The issue 

is whether or not judicial discretion must be actually used to 

separate trials as this Court held in Brown, or can it be done 

purely based on judicial mistake? 
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IV. FACTS OF THE CASE1 

A. Substantive Case Facts 

In December of2011 or January of2012 the Respondent's 

John Kennedy, Patrick Kennedy, and Mitigation of Disease, Inc. 

(MODI) asked Mr. Cebert to work for them. CP 234. They 

offered Mr. Cebert stock in MODI and the presidency. Id. 

MODI is a company that held a patent pending application for a 

bioavailable mineral compound that helps with disease. CP 3 7 6-

412. 

In August of 2012 Respondent Patrick Kennedy sent out 

an investment document that showed Mr. Cebert in the role of 

the President for MODI. CP 376-444. This document showed the 

Appellant receiving a $70,000 salary and 600,000 shares in 

MODI. CP 443; 393. This document attached the patent 

1 Appellant's claims were dismissed on summary judgment, so all facts are stated in best 
light of the Appellant as required by the summary judgment standard.** 
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application to the investment documents, showing it was 

claiming to own the intellectual property on the bioavailable 

mineral compound. CP 376-412. 

In October of 2012 Respondent Patrick Kennedy sent out 

another investment proposal for Axtel Scientific, which was to 

be a carbon copy of MODI.2 CP 446-486. This investment 

proposal showed the Appellant receiving 600,000 shares of stock 

in Axtel. CP 472. The Appellant was working for and continued 

working for the Respondents at this time. 

On March 29, 2013, Respondent John Kennedy sent an e­

mail about MODI to the Appellant, David Cebert, and others that 

said, "Dave as President" was to take certain actions. CP 534. 

On April 10, 2013 Respondent John Kennedy sent an e-mail 

about MODI to the Appellant, David Cebert, stating they were 

looking to hnn for direction and guidance. CP 5 3 6. The 

Appellant continued to work for the Respondents at this time. 

2 John Kennedy's deposition shows Ax.tel and MODI were treated similarly. CP 554-55; 

561-62. Axtel filed bankruptcy in this matter and is not part of the decision. But the 

evidence allows the reasonable inference that MODI and Ax.tel are the same company, 

and they were both controlled and owned by the Kennedy brothers. 
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In May of 2013, Respondent Patrick Kennedy promised 

the Appellant an extra 400,000 shares in Axtel for all the work 

the Appellant was doing. CP 238-239. 

In September of 2014, problems arose between the 

Respondents and the Appellant. The Appellant sent a resignation 

e-mail and asked that they honor their promise of stock to him. 

CP 2 7 0-2 72. Respondents refused to honor the stock request. 

In October of2014 Respondents demanded Appellant turn 

over certain data to them. RP 276-278; 357. Appellant refused 

since he had resigned. 

B. Procedural Case Facts 

Appellant started this case by serving it on May 7, 2015. 

CP 19-23. The claims were for contract, employment, quantum 

meruit, and fraud actions. 3 However this case was not filed at 

3 The original complaints contained Washington Securities Act violations, but these were 
dropped in the second amended complaint. 
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that time. Appellant acquired new counsel, who immediately 

filed the matter on February 16, 2016. CP 1-15. 

In March of 2016 the respondents answered the complaint. 

This answer brought counterclaims for the Appellant not turning 

over data in October of 2014, and for letters that were sent out 

by another party to the Respondent's business partners. 

Appellant deposed John Kennedy in May of 2017. During 

this deposition Respondent John Kennedy testified that he never 

had any intention of compensating the Appellant or making him 

president. CP 561-563; 568-570. Based on the deposition 

revelation, the Appellant again Amended the complaint to add 

specifics around fraud; that it was based on a promise made with 

no intention to perform. CP 105-109. 

The Defendants' brought a summary judgment on April 

27, 2018 arguing that the Appellant had violated the statute of 

limitations. This matter was set for trial on July 9, 2018. On 

June 22, 2018 the trial court entered summary judgment against 

the Appellant's claims. The trial court found that the Appellant's 
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claims accrued in 2012 and therefore the filing on February 16, 

2016 violated the statute of limitations. CP 1452-1454. 

The court sent this matter to trial on the counterclaims, and 

the jury found against the Appellant. CP 1641-1646. During the 

trial, the Appellant was instructed not to discuss his employment, 

fraud, or other claims with the jury. RP 209-216; RP 289-290. 

Despite this, the Respondents were allowed to bring in 

documents that referenced Appellant's "claims" and values he 

had hypothesized on those. RP 2 89. The trial court noted this put 

the Appellant in a "catch-22" but still allowed it. RP 289. 

After the judgment was entered, Appellant filed an appeal 

about the summary judgment of his claims, and some aspects of 

the trial. The appellate court reversed swrunary judgment on the 

statutory employment claims and on quantum meruit. However, 

the court of appeals upheld the summary judgment on the fraud 

and contract claims stating that the Appellant could not pursue 

his claims to stock under those theories. Opinion p. 8. The 

Appellant requested reconsideration, citing the most of the errors 
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he cites here, and the court of appeals denied reconsideration. 

This matter is now ripe for review by this Court. 

V. ARGUMENT 

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with decisions 

of this Court in three areas. Per RAP 13.4(b)(l) these are 

grounds to accept review. 

A. This Court Has Held That For Continuous Service 
Contracts The Statute Of Limitations Begins To Run 
Upon The Termination Of The Contract, And Not As 
The Court of Appeals Held, Upon The First Breach 

The "statute of limitation on amounts due under a contract 

for continuous service does not begin to run until the contract is 

terminated." Macchia v. Savlino, 64 Wn.2d 951, 955, 395 P.2d 

177, 179 (1964), emphasis added. In Macchia, this Court looked 

back to contract breaches over 11 years to award damages. Id. at 

956. The Court of Appeals conflicts with Macchia. 
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The Appellant's contract in this case was one of 

continuous service to the Kennedy's and MODI. The Appellate 

Court even acknowledge that when it said, "Cebert' s allegations 

state a case for continuing performance rather than a specific 

length of time .... " Opinion p. 7. This performance was clearly 

services, meaning this was a contract for continuous services just 

like Macchia. 

The evidence in this matter shows the Appellant resigned 

the continuous service contract in September of 2014. CP 270-

2 72. This means that under Macchia, the statute of limitations 

would have run in September of 2017. Filing on February 16, 

2016 would not have been past the statute of limitations. 

Especially as decided on summary judgment. 

Instead of Macchia, the Court of Appeals relies on a 

construction contract case to make its ruling on the statute of 

limitations. Opinion p. 7-8; 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs 

Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 572-573 (2006). This Court in 1000 

Virginia Lt.d P'ship addressed whether latent defects in 
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construction contracts were afforded the discovery rule under the 

contract breach statute of limitations. Id. at 574-590. J 000 

Virginia Lt. d P 'ship' s decision of when the cause accrued for the 

statute of limitations is not a continuous service contract and 

should not have been followed in this matter. 

As briefed in Appellant's Court of Appeals opening brief 

there was ample evidence that the continuous service contract did 

not end prior to the February 16, 2013 date. Clear evidence is in 

the March 29, 2013 e-mail in one of the Respondent's own words 

that asks Mr. Cebert to do services as "President" of MODI. CP 

534. That provides sufficient evidence that the continuous 

service contract did not end prior to February 16, 2013. The 

Court of Appeals's decision is in direc~ conflict with this Court's 

decision in Macchia and review is appropriate. 

B. This Court And A Statute Mandate The Statute Of 
Limitations For Fraud Begins To Run Upon Discovery 
And That Is A Question Of Fact; The Court Of 
Appeals's Decision Conflicts With These Mandates 
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1. This Court And The Legislature Have Stated 
The Statute Of Limitations Begins To Run When 
Fraud Is Discovered, Not When The First 
Misrepresentation Occurs 

A fraud action accrues when the aggrieved party actually 

discovers, or in the exercise of due diligence could have 

discovered, the facts constituting fraud. RCW 4.16.080(4). 

Strong v. Clark, 56 Wn.2d 230,232 (1960). "Mere suspicion of 

wrong is not discovery of fraud; the discovery contemplated is 

of evidentiary facts leading to a belief in fraud and by which the 

existence of fraud may be established." Young v. Savidge, 155 

Wn. App. 806, 823, 230 P.3d 222 (2010), citing Davison v. 

Hewitt, 6 Wn.2d 131, 137, 106 P.2d 733, 736 (1940). 

The fraud alleged in this case was the promise of the stock, 

and the presidency with its attendant benefits in order to induce 

the Appellant's labor. CP 131. If a party makes a promise to 

induce action, but has no intention of keeping it, that is a false 

representation of fact. Markov v. ABC Transfer & Storage, Co., 

76 Wn.2d 388, 95-396, 475 P.2d 535 (1969). 
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The false promises here were made in December of 2011, 

in August of 2012, in October of 2012, on March 29, 2013, and 

again in May of 2013. The record shows the Appellant relied on 

them as late as September of 2014. Then in May of 2017, 

Respondent John Kennedy testified in his deposition that he 

never had any intention of ever performing on those promises. 

CP 561-563; 568-570. This provides evidence that the fraud was 

not discovered until after September 2014 and even as late as 

May of 2017. 

In contradiction of this Court's decisions, the Court of 

Appeals uses the date of the first false promise, and not the date 

of discovery for accrual of the statute of limitations. The Court 

of Appeals states, "[t]he 1naterial misrepresentation that [Mr. 

Cebert] alleged was the basis of his fraud claim that occurred 

four years before he filed his first fraud allegation." Opinion p. 

6. This decision then states the statute of limitations began to run 

upon the first misrepresentation in 2011. This completely ignores 

evidence that the false representations occurred in writing as late 
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as March 29, 2013 and orally into May of 2013, with clear 

showing ofno actual discovery as late as September of 2014. 

The day of the first misrepresentation is not the statutory 

law or precedent by this Court. The rule is discovery, and the 

Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decisions 

on the discovery of fraud starting the statute of limitations 

runmng. 

2. If the Court of Appeals applied the correct 
discovery rule, then it weighed facts about the 
discovery which conflicts with clear decisions of 
this Court 

The discovery of the fraud is a question of fact and not of 

law. Young v. Savidge, 155 Wn. App. 806, 823, 230 P.3d 222 

(2010). When reviewing a summary judgment the court must 

consider all evidence in favor of the nonmoving party. Keck v. 

Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 368 (2015). At summary judgment a 

court does not weigh evidence because that is the role of the jury. 

Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 269, 289 (2015); Jones v. DSHS, 170 

Wn.2d 338, 354, fn. 7 (2010). 
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This decision on the misrepresentation only looked at the 

2011 phone call. However, the Appellant presented evidence of 

stock and presidency representations well past that date. These 

included ( 1) a writing in August 2012 that referenced both stock 

and the Presidency to the Appellant (CP 376, 393, 443), (2) a 

writing in November 2012 that referenced stock to the Appellant, 

(3) a writing on March 29, 2013 that refers to the Appellant as 

president of MODI (CP 534), (4) an oral promise in May of2013 

of another! 400,000 shares of stock (CP 239), and (5) a the 

resignation e-mail by the Appellant that said he was still 

expecting performance on the stock promise (CP 270). All of 

those are evidence of continuance of the misrepresentations that 

are the basis of fraud. Looking at all of these items in the best 

light of the Appellant creates a question of fact that the 

misrepresentation not only continued to occur after February 16, 

2013 but also that it was not reasonably discoverable prior to that 

date. See the attached evidence of continued misrepresentation: 
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Representations: lf.' · SEPT 2014 

;_ccbcrt asks for stock promised 

MAY 2013 
Pat promises 400k more 

Non dilutable shares 

MARCH 2013 

John calls Dave President 

OCT 2012 

AXTEL promises stock 

AUG 2012 

MODI promises stock 

DEC 2011 
John promises stock 

= Courts accepted 

This decision also decides that the Appellant's claims of 

discovering no intention to perform on the presidency and its 

benefits in May of 2017 is not credible because the original 

complaint in 2015 and first amended complaint alleged fraud. 

This does not view the evidence in the best light of the Appellant 

The original complaint does allege fraud around 

compensation for services, and this is true in the amended 

complaint. CP 10, 30. The second amended complaint though 

did allege the false representation of president of MODI with 

appropriate compensation, and no intention to perform. CP 131. 
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That second amendment was made after the May 2017 

deposition of Respondent John Kennedy. Taken in the best light 

of the Appelant, this supports his claim of discovering no intent 

to perform on the president and compensation that comes with it 

was in May of 2017. 

At best the 2015 complaint presents evidence that Mr. 

Cebert discovered the fraud in 2015. However, that would not 

create a statute of limitations problem since the Appellant filed 

the matter on February 16, 2016, less than three years from the 

discovery date. 

This Court's decisions require the Court of Appeals to 

consider all the facts in the best light of the Appellant, under the 

discovery rule of RCW 4.16.080(4) to decide if there are issues 

for trial. The Court of Appeals either found facts not to be 

credible or ignored them in direct contradiction with Keck, 

Davis, and multiple other decisions. This warrants acceptance of 

review by this Court. 
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C. The Separation of Trials Should Be Based On 
Discretion 

In Brown v. Gen. Motor's Corp., 67 Wn.2d 278,282,407 

P.2d 461 (1965) this Court stated separate trials requires careful 

and cautions informed judicial discretion "to determine the 

application of the separation will manifestly promote 

convenience and/or actually avoid prejudice." In contradiction 

to this Court's statement in Brown, the Court of Appeals decided 

that counterclaims can be separated from each other under CR 42 

but this does not require any judicial discretion for the separation. 

Opinion p. 9. 

This decision does not contain any careful or cautious use 

of the judicial discretion to affirm the separation of trials. At trial 

the issue of Mr. Cebert's claims was brought up in a document. 

When Mr. Cebert pointed out that this required him talking about 

his claims, and would get a curative instruction on that, the trial 

court acknowledged this put in him in a "catch-22." RP 289. This 
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situation directly refers to the trial of the counter claims and Mr. 

Cebert discussing his claims as a contradictory trap on Mr. 

Cebert. That is evidence of a prejudice by not allowing the 

claims to be tried together. 

Along with this the Court of Appeals decision notes that 

leaving the current jury verdict in place, while trying the 

Appellant's claims against the Respondents could cause claim 

preclusion and res judicata issues. Opinion p. 12,fn. 11. This in 

itself should create concerns of fairness that the Appellant will 

not get his rights to trial by jury. Under this Court's decision in 

Brown, these issues must actually be weighed and decided. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals' s decision conflicts with the 

decisions of this Court. This is true on the statute of limitations 

for the contract and fraud claims. Along with that, the Court of 

Appeals decision does not follow this Court's requirement of 

judicial discretion before trials are separated. Review is

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