FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/30/2020 12:57 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99080-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID CEBERT, an individual,

Petitioner,

 \mathbf{V}_{\star}

KENNEDY, PATRICK and JANE DOE KENNEDY, a marital community; JOHN KENNEDY and JANE DOE KENNEDY, a marital community; and MITIGATION OF DISEASE, INC., a Delaware corporation,

Respondents,

and

AXTEL SCIENTIFIC, INC., a Nevada corporation,

Defendant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

William C. Schroeder, WSBA # 41986
Anne K. Schroeder, WSBA # 47952

KSB LITIGATION, P.S.
510 W. Riverside, 3rd Floor
Spokane, Washington, 99201
(509) 624-8988

wcs@KSBLit.legal
aschroeder@KSBLit.legal

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

On September 26, 2016, Cebert declared: "In 2011... Defendants Patrick and John Kennedy offered me to be President of the company... and I accepted." (CP 343; CP 356)

AXTEL

Axtel was formed under the laws of Nevada on October 18, 2012. (CP 207-244) Cebert claimed that he was orally offered the position of president of Axtel in October 2012. (CP 237) Cebert testified that he does not remember any specifics or could testify to any specific terms of this alleged oral contract, other than it happened in October 2012 (CP 237-38) Cebert declared that he was offered the 600,000 shares for compensation for his work and the presidency of Axtel in an email on October 18, 2012. (CP 366; 467) The document Cebert relied upon for that contention provides "The officers of [Axtel] immediately prior to and after Closing shall comprise of John W. Kennedy as president. Patrick Kennedy as Chief Executive Officer and Robert Fritzges as secretary and treasurer." (CP 241-42, CP 470) The document is a draft sale of stock to a third party, Blue Cap, which was never executed. (Id.)

On October 19, 2012, Cebert received a copy of the formation documents of Axtel, which establish that the President of Axtel is JW Kennedy. (CP 453-465) Cebert acknowledges that he received the Axtel documents. (CP 243)

Cebert testified that the work he did for Axtel was the label and logo for Accilion. (CP 248) However, the labels and logos state that they are for a different entity, Advanced Mineral Compounds ("AMC"), and not Axtel.

(CP 249, CP 495-97) Furthermore, as with MODI, Cebert claimed that Axtel should pay him for the creation of the Craig Wells video. (CP 251) The video has been licensed to AMC. (CP 250) Cebert admits that there is no written contract that states that Axtel will pay Cebert for producing a video for the use and licensure of AMC. (CP 251)

The final work that Cebert testified before trial that he was owed compensation for collecting data for Axtel. (CP 254) Cebert began collecting the patient data in March of 2012 (CP 499-503) He did not receive pay from Axtel or MODI in 2012 for so doing, nor has he ever. Cebert admitted in deposition testimony that he refused to turn over the patient data to Axtel. (CP 253-54, CP 505-06)

Cebert claimed that he was orally promised by P Kennedy an additional 400,000 shares of stock for unspecified 'work' for Axtel in May of 2014. (CP 238-39) Cebert was unable to testify to any specifics of this alleged oral promise, what his work would entail, or how this work would be different and additional than his previously claimed work for Axtel (Id.) From 2012 – 2014, Cebert never held himself out in any writing that he was president of Axtel. In the September 17, 2014 'advisory role resignation email', Cebert wrote that "this is probably the most unusual job application you have probably reviewed", and that he "will not close the door on the

opportunity for Axtel to request my services as President and CEO... But my employment will only be under one condition [.]" (CP 270-72)

On November 3, 2014, Cebert wrote to JW Kennedy concerning his "email resigning my advisory role at Axtel Scientific, September 17, 2014." (CP 267-68, CP 246)

In November/December of 2014, Cebert drafted a 92-page Powerpoint presentation for certain attorneys concerning his allegations against the Kennedys. (CP 244, CP 274-81) Cebert wrote as of December 2014 that he was not the President of Axtel; that he would consider the position of President only if Axtel was successful and only "under the correct circumstances"; that he would be given stock in lieu of compensation; and that Cebert's role with Axtel was "advisory" and he resigned from the same on September 17, 2014. (CP 274-77) Cebert called the attorneys' attention to an email dated March 29, 2013, which Cebert says means that Cebert would become the president of Axtel, if the conditions were right. (CP 275-76)

In early 2015, Cebert and Noder retained new, shared counsel, who sent a letter dated March 20, 2015 to Kennedys, claiming: 1) to be the true representatives of Axtel Scientific, Inc.; and 2) that the Kennedys "unlawfully misappropriated Axtel's intellectual property rights[.]" (CP

283-86) The demand letter makes no mention of Cebert's claim that Cebert was president of MODI or of Axtel. (Id.)

On May 6, 2015, a signed complaint was served, though never timely filed. (CP 288-300) This complaint provides: "if [Cebert's] efforts, the company, and the formula... were successful, [Cebert] would be offered the position of President[.]" (Id.)

On November 23, 2015, Cebert accessed the Nevada Secretary of State's website and confirmed that the President of Axtel was JW Kennedy and had been since the company's formation. (CP 302-03, CP 244-45)

On February 16, 2016, Cebert filed the Complaint commencing this action, which alleges that Cebert was offered and had already accepted the position of president. (CP 1-15; CP 24-36)

Kennedys moved for summary judgment as to all of Cebert's claims. (CP 166-91; CP 192-499) Cebert filed a response brief, and a declaration of counsel with documentary exhibits. (CP 513-29; CP 530-635) Cebert supplied no declaration of himself in response to the motion for summary judgment to state that he did not and could not find out that he was not president of MODI or of Axtel until after February 16, 2013, three (3) years prior to the filing date of the Complaint.

Evidence At Trial.

P. Kennedy had previously helped Cebert on a business venture that did not work out. (RP 533-35) JW Kennedy was introduced to Cebert telephonically in 2012, through P. Kennedy. (RP 202) Not long after, Cebert wrote in his personal diary: "CHECK OUT TRADE SECRET STATUS". (RP 479-81, Ex. R-118) Cebert testified at trial that the Kennedys had initially "called me because they wanted to tell that story. Pat [Kennedy] knew I had the skill set to do that." (RP 721) Cebert testified that he "... was working with Pat Kennedy and Robert the most. I don't know that there would be any reason for hierarchy, but that's who I was talking with the most at MODI." (RP 745) Cebert testified that his "job was to create the brand. Create the website. Create the names, MODI. MODI was already created. To create the name Accilion to put a face on the product." (RP 724) Cebert testified at trial that he was "working with the Kennedy brothers" (RP 722), and that he "quit working with the Kennedys" when he "submitted [his] letter of resignation on September 17th, 2014." (RP 521) Cebert confirmed that he "resigned as advisor". (RP 524) Cebert testified at trial that he sent the email resigning as advisor, but "agree[d] to keep working with... Michael Noder," (RP 771) and that the reason he "quit working with Axtel and MODI" was that he "learned" that the Foundation could not give free Product to one of Cebert's friends. (RP 768)

Cebert also refused to provide the patient data, unless JW Kennedy gave exclusive global rights to the Product to AMC and Noder. (RP 388-89, Ex. R-113; RP 679-83; RP 845-47; see also CP 267-72 and CP 246) Shortly thereafter, Cebert recorded the following personal note: "RUSSIAN PATENT EXPIRED". (RP 483, Ex. R-124)

The jury returned verdicts in favor of Respondents and Axtel.

AUTHORITIES

Summary Judgment Standard – Burden Shifting – Cannot Create A Question Of Fact Through Silence

"A party cannot create genuine issues of material fact by mere allegations, argumentative assertions, conclusory statements, and speculation." *In re Kelley*, 170 Wn. App. 722, 737, 287 P.3d 12 (2012) (internal citation omitted). A party cannot create a genuine issue of material fact by contradicting, without explanation, prior sworn testimony or writings. *Kelley*, 170 Wn. App. at 737–39. An "affidavit in opposition to a summary judgment motion" is insufficient to create a question of fact where it contradicts, without explanation, prior sworn deposition testimony or interrogatories, or "uncontroverted and unrebutted e-mails that were attached to a sworn declaration." *Id.* at 738. Similarly, when unambiguous answers to interrogatories clearly eliminate any genuine issue of material fact, a party cannot thereafter create such an issue merely by contradicting,

without explanation, previous admissions. *Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State* v. *Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp.*, 111 Wn. App. 771, 778, 48 P.3d 324 (2002). If the nonmoving party fails to controvert material facts, those facts are deemed established for purposes of summary judgment. *Cent. Wash Bank v. Mendelson-Seller, Inc.*, 113 Wn.2d 346, 345, 779 P.2d 697 (1989).

As in *Kelley*, Cebert's pleadings in response to summary judgment did not address or attempt to explain Cebert's knowledge of and possession of a variety of documents, including those drafted by Cebert himself in 2012, which show JW Kennedy as president of MODI and of Axtel. Cebert's silence on the matter was insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact, and the trial court did not err in dismissing Cebert's claims as a matter of law. See *Kelley* at 737-39.

A claim accrues when a party "knows or should know of the relevant fact." *Kelly*, 170 Wn. App. at 734; 737-39. Cebert's claim that he was orally promised, and actually became president of MODI in January of 2012, accrued no later than September of 2012, when Cebert wrote that 'JW Kennedy is president of MODI'. Similarly, Cebert's claim that he was president of Actel accrued no later than October 19, 2012, when Cebert received copies of the Axtel corporate formation documents.

Cebert cites *Davis v. Cox*, 183 Wn.2d 269, 289, 351 P.3d 862 (2015), abrogated on other grounds by 191 Wn.2d 392 (2018), which

provides that "it is well established that when there is no genuine issue of material fact, summary judgment proceedings do not infringe upon a litigant's constitutional right to a jury trial." *Id.* at 289.

Accural - Contract

The statute of limitations on an oral contract is three years. RCW 4.16.080(3). "No acknowledgment or promise shall be sufficient evidence of a new or continuing contract whereby to take the case out of the operation of this chapter, unless it is contained in some writing signed by the party to be charged thereby[.]" RCW 4.16.280.

Accrual of a contract claim occurs upon breach; the discovery rule does not apply. *1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp.*, 158 Wn.2d 566, 576, 146 P.3d 423 (2006); see also *Schwindt v. Commonwealth Ins. Co.*, 140 Wn.2d 348, 353, 997 P.2d 353 (2000).

Cebert argues on appeal that he had a continuous contract. However, Cebert cannot create a question of fact by arguing in contradiction to his sworn testimony. Here, Cebert knew he did not get a paycheck in January of 2012, when he did not get one. If nothing else, Cebert knew he was not president of MODI pursuant to an oral contract no later than "August / September" of 2012, when Cebert wrote John Wayne Kennedy is the President of MODI and Chairman of the Board".

Cebert cites *Macchia v. Salvino*, 64 Wn.2d 951, 955, 395 P.2d 177 (1964). In that case, the claim accrued upon the first non-payment of salary, and the court notes that the plaintiff's "services were terminated December 31, 1960. His cross-complaint for unpaid salary was filed March 20, 1962, well within any applicable statute of limitation." *Id.* at 955.

Accrual - Fraud

The statute of limitations for fraud is three years; the time period begins to run upon "the discovery by the aggrieved party of the facts constituting the fraud." RCW 4.16.080. "In applying the discovery rule, actual knowledge of fraud will be inferred for purposes of the statute if the aggrieved party, by the exercise of due diligence, could have discovered it." *Shepard v. Holmes*, 185 Wn. App. 730, 739-40, 345 P.3d 786 (2014).

Cebert's fraud claim is that JW Kennedy orally promised him presidency of MODI, which Cebert orally accepted in January of 2012, and that Cebert was not ever actually president, and that constitutes fraud. (CP 124-36) Cebert testified he received the alleged oral promise of presidency in 2011, that he orally accepted in January of 2012, that his first pay period was January of 2012, and Cebert himself subsequently wrote in September of 2012 that John Wayne Kennedy was president of MODI, meaning his claim arose sometime prior to September of 2012.

Fraud has nine (9) elements. See *Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wn.2d 486, 505, 925 P.2d 194 (1996). "The burden is upon the plaintiff to prove the existence of all these essential and necessary elements that enter into [a fraud claim's] composition." *Baetschi v. Jordan*, 68 Wn.2d 478, 482, 413 P.2d 657 (1966). "All of the ingredients must be found to exist. The absence of any one of them is fatal." *Id*.

Taken at face value, given the documents and records available to Cebert contemporaneously, as well as Cebert's own writings, he neither was "ignorant" of the alleged false promise, nor did he rely on the "truth" of the alleged representation that he was president the whole time.

Through argument counsel only, with no corroborating testimony, Cebert points to the March 29, 2013 email discussed *supra*, which Cebert told his attorneys did not mean that he was president. Cebert wrote in the November/December 2014 powerpoint to AMC/Noder's attorneys that the March 29, 2013 email does not mean he was president. (CP 244; CP 274-81) This admission of a party opponent is binding, particularly where, as here, Cebert has failed to submit testimony attempting to rebut his written admission. *Kelly*, 170 Wn. App. at 734; 737-39. "[P]arty-opponent admissions may be admitted as substantive evidence." *State v. Garland*, 169 Wn. App. 869, 886, 282 P.3d 1137 (2012).

As to MODI, Cebert has previously offered sworn testimony that the document he drafted in "August / September of 2012", and which states John Wayne Kennedy was president, was last edited on June 3, 2013. (CP 316) Since Cebert did not modify the document he wrote which says John Wayne Kennedy was president of MODI after he received the March 2013 email, he neither was 'ignorant of the falsity' nor 'relied on the truth.'

Cebert testified that he was made president of MODI by oral promise in 2011. (CP 232-33) Cebert testified he accepted by telephone and became president of MODI in January of 2012. (CP 235) Cebert testified his first pay period was January of 2012. (CP 235; CP 361) Cebert never received a paycheck. (CP 235) Cebert wrote, in "August / September" of 2012, that "John Wayne Kennedy is the President of MODI and Chairman of the Board". (CP 247; CP 261-65)

Cebert refers the court to CP 562-64 and CP 569-71, portions of the JW Kennedy deposition testimony. "But when [Cebert] was mentioned as being the president of the company, it was like taking somebody out of high school and putting them as head of GMC. You know, it just wouldn't fit." (CP 569) Asking JW Kennedy about CP 534 and Ex. P-14, he testified that the email "doesn't look familiar. But I was really against making David Cebert president." (CP 571)

Cebert cites *Young v. Savidoe*, 155 Wn. App. 806, 823, 230 P.3d 806 (2010), which provides that the "plaintiff bears the burden to establish that she did not discover the facts constituting the fraud and that she could not reasonably have discovered them within the statute of limitations period." *Id.* at 823 (internal citations omitted).

Cebert cites *Markov v. ABC Transfer*, 76 Wn.2d 388, 396, 457 P.2d 388 (1969), which concerns oral promises to renew a written commercial lease. Here, no written promise is alleged by Cebert. Rather, Cebert knew the alleged 2011 oral promise to be president of MODI starting with a paycheck in January of 2012 was not fulfilled when, a) he did not receive a paycheck in January of 2012; and b) he wrote in "August / September" of 2012 that JW Kennedy was president of MODI.

Finally, Cebert argues that the "trial court incorrectly weighed evidence and found facts". The trial court took Cebert's testimony at face value (orally offered presidency in 2011, orally accepted by telephone in January of 2012, was later held out to be president to the public by Kennedys), and also took Cebert's uncontroverted September 2012 writing at face value ("John Wayne Kennedy is the President of MODI and Chairman of the Board"), and concluded that Cebert knew or had reason to know he was not president of MODI at least by September of 2012, when he wrote that JW Kennedy was president. (RP 78-84)

No Basis Identified To Reverse Jury Verdicts.

Cebert claims he is entitled to a new trial to 'test the claims against the counterclaims.' Yet, "I was president of MODI" is not a defense to conversion, trade secrets misappropriation, or tortious interference. Moreover, as the trial court explained, Cebert was free to put on whatever evidence he wanted; doing so would simply open the door for cross examination on the same subject. Cebert elected to testify as he did.

Cebert cites CR 42, which concerns consolidation and separate trials. Here, there was no consolidation. Instead, Cebert commenced suit against Kennedys, who in turn pleaded counterclaims against Cebert. Kennedys were successful on a CR 56 motion as to Cebert's claims. Contrary to Cebert's argument, CR 42 does not stand for the proposition that when a plaintiff commences suit, has counterclaims pled against him, and then plaintiff loses on summary judgment on his claims, that counterclaimants are not entitled to proceed to trial on their counterclaims.

Cebert cites *Brown v. General Motors Corp.*, 67 Wn.2d 278, 282, 407 P.2d 461 (1965). *Brown* does not concern CR 56 dismissal of claims, with counterclaims proceeding to trial. It is inapplicable.

Costs And Attorney's Fees Are Requested, Pursuant To RCW 19.108.040, RAP 18.1, And *Eagle Group*.

Respondent MODI requests an award of its attorney's fees on appeal, pursuant to RAP 18.1 and RCW 19.108.040. When the trial court has awarded attorney's fees pursuant to RCW 19.108.040, attorney's fees are likewise available on appeal. *Eagle Group, Inc. v. Pullen*, 114 Wn. App. 409, 424, 58 P.3d 292 (2002).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents request that the Court deny the Petition. Respondent MODI further requests an award of its costs and attorney's fees on appeal, pursuant to RCW 19.108.040.

Submitted this 30th day of October, 2020,

KSB LITIGATION P.S.

Rv

William C. Schroeder, WSBA #41986 Anne K. Schroeder, WSBA #47952 Attorneys for Respondents

U.S. Bankruptcy Court Northern District of Texas (Abilene) Bankruptcy Petition #: 18-10213-rlj7

Date filed: 08/31/2018

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